A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Kevin and Linda Sullivan (hereinafter referred to collectively as 

"Sullivans") petition the Supreme Court to accept review of the 

unpublished Court of Appeals decision in this matter terminating review 

as designated below. 

B. REVIEW SOUGHT OF COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Sullivans seek review of the decision of the Court of Appeals 

in this matter issued on July 29,2015. A copy ofthe decisions is 

appended hereto as Appendix B. More specifically, the Sullivans seek 

review and reversal of the Court of Appeals decision in the following 

respects: 

1. The Court's ruling that "Once an easement is extinguished 

by abandonment, or any other means, it no longer exists" and may only be 

recreated by creation of a new easement and thereafter ruling that the 

easement could not be reinstated under the application of "equitable 

estoppel". This is followed by the appellate court finding that the Decree 

Quieting Title of the trial court is without legal basis. Opinion in No. 

72027-9-1, appended as Appendix B hereto, at page 8 and 11. 

2. The appellate court's finding that the trial court's 

consideration of the equitable estoppel argument was unnecessary and 
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unwarranted. Opinion in No. 72027-9-1, appended as Appendix B hereto, 

at page 8. 

3. The appellate court's ruling that there is no legal support 

for the remedy of equitable estoppel as it relates to abandonment of an 

easement and related finding that there is no legal support for the 

proposition that abandonment and be repudiated under the application of 

estoppel. Opinion in No. 72027-9-1, appended as Appendix B hereto, at 

page 9. 

4. That the finding that the erection of a fence in an area of an 

easement, without prior demand for its removal and failure to comply with 

such demand, is satisfactory evidence to support a finding of 

abandonment. Opinion in No. 72027-9-1, appended as Appendix B hereto, 

at page 9. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. The decision ofthe Court of Appeals that "estoppel" was 

not an applicable doctrine for use by the Trial Court in relation to a contest 

case of abandonment of an easement is in error and should be reversed. 

2. The ruling by the Court of Appeals that if actions have 

occurred sufficient to find an easement has been abandoned, the easement 

is at that point permanently extinguished and such actions cannot be 
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reversed to allow the easement to continue to exist is in error and should 

be reversed. 

3. Contrary to the decision by the Court of Appeals, if the 

owner of the dominant estate as it relates to an easement constructs a fence 

within the easement area but removes it prior to or during the course of 

litigation and the owner of the servient estate would suffer no undue 

hardship as a result of these action, the easement should remain viable and 

not be extinguished. 

4. If equitable estoppel can and does apply with regard to 

claims that an easement has been abandoned and is so applied by the trial 

judge, the standard for review should be "abuse of discretion". In this 

case, that standard should be applied and the decision of the trial court 

sustained necessitating reversal of the decision of the Court of Appeals. 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

At issue herein is a "joint boat launch easement" which burdened 

both the property owned by Plaintiffs Bressler and Defendants Sullivan 

that is more fully described in Trial Exhibit 11, copy appended as 

Appendix C hereto. Plaintiffs Bressler brought a quiet title action seeking 

to declare the easement extinguished as a result of either (i) abandonment 

of the same by their neighbors, the Sullivans; or (ii) the easement was 

extinguished applying the theory of equitable estoppel. CP 903-926. Trial 
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was held in Island County Superior Court over a number of days in front 

of the Hon. Vickie I. Churchill. 

1. Decision of the Trial Court 

Judge Churchill, in a 1 0-page letter ruling attached hereto as 

Appendix A, found the following facts essentially as undisputed: 

(a) That the Sullivans had originally thought an 

easement existed between the two houses to facilitate getting boats 

to and from the beach, the only opening in the beach seawall wide 

enough for launching such boats being on the Bressler side of the 

properties. See Appendix C hereto. 

(b) The Court further found that after consulting an 

attorney, the Sullivans were advised incorrectly that an easement 

could not be located on the records of title and in reliance on such 

advice, constructed a fence on their side of the property line but 

nonetheless in the area covered by the easement. 

(c) The Bresslers subsequently hired an attorney 

(Carolyn Cliff) not as much to object to the location of the fence as 

they did not own or use boats but to obtain an agreement that the 

easement could be extinguished of record. 

(d) When the Bressler's counsel contacted the attorney 

for the Sullivans in this regard, the Sullivans found out that an 

Page 14 



easement to launch boats did, in fact, exist. While it was the initial 

hope ofthe Sullivans that they might be able to create an opening 

and launch point in their own seawall, the costs and regulatory 

demands were simply prohibitive. But their attorney during this 

period did not "waive off' the Bresslers attempt to negotiate a 

formal extinguishment and the trial court found that the Bresslers 

were entitled to rely upon the representations and actions of 

Sullivans' attorney. 

(e) The Sullivans relocated their fence to free up the 

easement area on March 1, 2012. 

The Court, after trial, ruled as follows: 

"The third prong focuses on the injury the other party would suffer if the 
servient tenant, in this case the Sullivans, were allowed to contradict or 
repudiate their earlier admissions, statements or acts. 

'An easement may be extinguished by conduct of the owner even 
though he had no intention to give up the easement. This is due to 
the general principle that the owner of an easement will not be 
permitted to change a position once taken by him if the change 
would cause undue hardship to the owner of the servient 
tenement.' Humphrey v. Jenks, 61 Wn.2d 565, 379 P.2d 366 
(1963), quoting from 2 American Law ofProperty 305, 
§8.00).(Emphasis added [by the Court]). 

"Obviously the Bresslers have incurred attorney fees in drafting the 
extinguishment agreement and attempting to have it executed. The 
Bresllers have also incurred ongoing attorney fees because of the 
continued encroachment by the Sullivans, even after those encroachments 
were called to the Sullivans' attention. Most of the encroachments had 
been removed by the time of trial, but the fence and landscaping 
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encroachments remain. The continued presence of the fence in the 
easement area threatens the integrity of the Bresslers' reserve drainfield. 
However, the fence can be easily removed, as shown by the number of 
times the Sullivans moved their fence; and the landscaping can be 
removed. 

"The Court finds that the Bresslers will suffer no undue hardship if the 
Sullivans are required to move the encumbrances found by the court to 
encroach on the easement and to pay the attorney fees incurred by the 
Bresslers. When the Bresslers bought their property, they knew it was 
encumbered by the boat launch declaration and that they would have 
to allow their neighbors to use it. The fact that the neighbors are 
contentious is unfortunate." See Appendix A hereto (emphasis added by 
author). 

It should be noted that the record reflects the Sullivans complied 

fully with the conditions set by the Court. See copies of pleadings filed as 

Sub. 174 and 175, copies appended as Appendix D hereto. 

2. Decision at the Court of Appeals 

The Court of Appeals essentially reversed the trial court. Their 

decision is appended as Appendix B hereto. The nexus of their decision 

can be stated as follows: 

"The trial court's ruling permitting the Sullivans to reinstate the easement 
after they abandoned it is without legal basis. Once an easement is 
extinguished by abandonment, or any other means, it no longer exists. 
Thus, it may only be 'reinstated' by creation of a new easement. ... 

"Once the court concluded the easement was abandoned, this was 
sufficient to extinguish the easement. The court's consideration of the 
equitable estoppel argument was unnecessary and unwarranted. The court 
did not have the authority to order the reinstatement of the abandoned 
easement on a finding that the Bresslers would not suffer undue hardship 
if the Sullivans moved the encumbrances and paid the attorney fees 
ordered by the court. The trial court appears to have erroneously merged 
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the requirements for abandonment and equitable estoppel and fashioned a 
remedy of 'reinstatement' of an abandoned easement based on the 
requirements of equitable estoppel." See Appendix B hereto. 

E. ARGUMENT 

1. The decision of the Court of Appeals presents a conflict with 
both decisions of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals. 

A. Both the Court of Appeals (in a prior decision) and the 
Supreme Court have recognized the applicability of "estoppel" 
to cases involving the abandonment of an easement. This 
conflicts with the ruling by the Court of Appeals in this case. 

Previously, in one of the very few Washington cases on 

"abandonment of an easement", the clear inference was that even when 

abandonment has been proven, revival or reinstatement can be shown. 

Heg v. Alldredge, 157 Wn.2d 154, 137 P.3d 9 (2006). That decision 

resulted from review of a Division I opinion in which that court clearly 

recognized the right of a party, even after a finding of abandonment of an 

easement, could seek revival absent application of principles of equitable 

estoppel. 

"An easement may be extinguished by conduct of the owner of it 
even though he had no intention to give up the easement. This is 
due to the general principle that the owner of an easement will not 
be permitted to change a position once taken by him if the change 
would cause undue hardship to the owner of the servient tenement. 
Humphrey v. Jenks, 61 Wn.2d 565, 567-68, 379 P.2d 366 (1963) 
(quoting 2 AMERICAN LAW OF PROPERTY§ 8.99, at 305) 
(1952). Thus, where the conduct of an owner of an easement (or 
that of his predecessors) does not suffice to establish abandonment 
of the easement, it may nevertheless suffice to bar enforcement 
where there has been a change of position by the owner of the 
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servient estate and resulting hardship. " Heg v. Alldredge, 124 
Wn. App. 297, 310 (Wash. Ct. App. 2004) 

While in Heg the Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals, it did so 

based upon lack of evidence supporting abandonment of the easement. 

The alternative application of equitable estoppel by the Court of Appeals 

was not specifically overturned by the Supreme Court in its later review. 

"However, the court found the Alldredges presented a viable claim 
of equitable estoppel with respect to the second claim and 
remanded for trial. !d. at 313. In so holding, the court relied on 
Humphrey v. Jenks, 61 Wn.2d 565, 379 P.2d 366 (1963)for the 
proposition the conduct of a party's predecessors may bar the 
enforcement of easement rights. 

''Ms. Heg argues she cannot be estopped from enforcing her 
easement rights based on the alleged conduct of her predecessors 
in interest, and that the Alldredges did not allege ''justifiable 
reliance" upon such conduct. The All dredges assert the Court of 
Appeals correctly construed Humphrey because otherwise the 
estopped party could resurrect a barred claim by transferring title 
to a third party. In Humphrey we never reached that question 
because the party asserting estoppel did not establish reasonable 
reliance. Humphrey, 65 Wn.2d at 570. Alldredges' argument that 
Heg's predecessors' conduct bars her from enforcing estoppel 
rights cannot be squared with the language requiring "the party to 
be estopped" to have acted or made statements inconsistent with 
his or her later claim, Walbrook, 115 Wn.2d at 347. Because the 
record contains no evidence of any acts or statements by Heg 
inconsistent with her claim of easement rights, Alldredges' second 
estoppel claim is without merit. 

"CONCLUSION 

"We reverse the Court of Appeals. Because the record contains no 
evidence Ms. Heg or her predecessors in interest intended to 
abandon the easement or any evidence of admissions, statements, 
or actions inconsistent with her claim, Ms. Heg is entitled to 
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summary judgment as a matter of law. " Heg v. Alldredge, 157 
Wn.2d 154, 166-167 (2006) 

In this regard, see also the Jenks decision stating in part as follows: 

"Most significantly, there has been no change of position on the 
part of the appellants which would render it inequitable to 
recognize the easement of the respondents. Except for the one 
occasion on which barriers were placed across the driveway, there 
has been an uninterrupted use of the driveway for 18 years. The 
appellants have not shown that the maintenance of the easement 
over the small corner of their lot would work a hardship upon 
them. There is nothing in the record to indicate that they intend to 
abandon the driveway as a means of access to their property, and 
it seems their sole purpose is to prevent its use by their 
neighbors. "Humphrey v. Jenks, 61 Wn.2d 565, 568 (Wash. 1963) 

In the instant case, although finding acts that constituted evidence 

of abandonment of the easement, the trial court also found that such 

actions do not ripen into "irrevocable" abandonment ofthe easement 

"until the other individual benefiting from the easement seeks to access it 

and any barrier is not removed". Letter Ruling and Decision, Appendix A 

hereto and CP 201, 209, citing Edmonds v. Williams, 54 Wn.App. 632, 

636-637,774 P.2d 1241 (1989). 

Factually, the Bresslers had and still have never sought to access 

the easement, did not own a boat and did not intend to themselves use the 

easement for the stated limited purpose of a "boat launch". RP 277-278. 

The court found that Bressler's argument was essentially that Sullivans 

should be equitably estopped from making that argument after evidence of 
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abandonment. Letter Ruling and Decision, !d. The Bresslers argued that 

at trial they were asserting both equitable estoppel and abandonment as 

compatible theories when dealing with the abandonment of an easement 

and so the use of the theory of equitable estoppel should come as no 

surprise. While the Trial Court found Sullivans' act of erecting a fence 

constituted sufficient evidence of abandonment of the easement, the Trial 

Court also found that the Sullivans retained the ability to revise or 

reinstate it by removing the fence absent being equitably estopped, which 

they did. 

The decision by the Court of Appeals essentially ruled that once 

sufficient evidence of abandonment is found, the easement totally 

disappears and cannot be equitably revived. Thus, there is left a clear 

question of law as to whether or not the doctrine of equitable estoppel 

applies in regard to abandonment of an easement. We assert that it should 

and does as applied by the trial judge in this case. 

We also note that the Court of Appeals engaged in a de novo 

review making their ruling as to "abandonment" as a matter of law, not in 

accordance with review of an equitable ruling of a trial judge based on the 

"abuse of discretion" standard. 
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B. Other cases have held that erecting a fence across an 
easement is not abandonment absent a failure to remove the 
barrier upon demand. This is inconsistent with the holding of 
the Court of Appeals in this case. 

The Court of Appeals (Division I) previously held that erecting a 

fence across an easement did not constitute abandonment of the easement. 

"In this case the record does not reflect that any effort was made 
to use the parcel A access easement from the time the easement 
was created in 1969 until well after the City acquired parcel A. 
The only use of the easement area by Williams that could be 
considered obstructive to the easement was his construction and 
maintenance of a fence. This is not a sufficiently inconsistent use of 
the easement area to constitute adverse possession. " Edmonds v. 
Williams, 54 Wn. App. 632, 637 (Wash. Ct. App. 1989) 

In this case, the "easement" in question had a very limited purpose, 

"launching boats". Trial Exhibit 105 (copy appended as Appendix C 

hereto). However, the owners of the servient estate (Bresslers) did not 

own a boat, had never owned a boat and did not intend to buy a boat. RP 

277-278. But the trial court placed significant emphasis on the erection of 

a fence by the Sullivans, finding that to be the "clear, cogent and 

convincing" evidence of"abandonment". Letter Ruling and Decision, 

Appendix A hereto and CP 201, 208. Based on that finding, the Court of 

Appeals has ruled that even moving the fence is not sufficient to restore 

the easement. The issue for the Court of Appeals then became whether 

the doctrine of equitable estoppel could be used to reinstate the easement, 

their opinion decreeing that it could not. 
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"Once an easement is extinguished by abandonment, or any other 
legal means, it no longer exists. Thus it may only be reinstated by 
creation of a new easement." Opinion in No. 72027-9-1, appended 
as Appendix B hereto, at page 8. 

2. The ability to rescind or reverse actions that might otherwise 
constitute "abandonment" of an easement is largely one of first 
impression in this state and as a matter of public policy should be 
addressed by this court. 

As noted in the argument in ~1 above, there is a clear conflict 

between the decisions of the Supreme Court (at least recognizing the 

ability to apply "equitable estoppel" doctrines to abandonment of an 

easement), an earlier decision of the Court of Appeals clearly recognizing 

that equitable estoppel could so apply and their conflicting decision in the 

instant case. 

A. "Abandonment" of an easement should rest on the 
intent of the owner of the dominant estate and less on objective 
facts. 

However, beyond that, the determination that an easement has or 

has not been abandoned really rests on the "intent" of owner of the 

dominant estate and interpretation of the actions taken with respect to such 

easement. 

"Extinguishing an easement through abandonment requires more 
than mere nonuse--the nonuse "'must be accompanied with the 
express or implied intention of abandonment."' Netherlands Am. 
Mortgage Bank v. E. Ry. & Lumber Co., 142 Wash. 204, 210, 252 
P. 916 (1927) (quoting Christopher G. Tiedeman, AN 
ELEMENTARY TREATISE ON THE AMERICAN LAW OF REAL 
PROPERTY,§ 605, at 574 (2d ed. 1892)). This court has 

Page 112 



previously held that "the lapse of time does not, of itself, constitute 
an abandonment, but is a circumstance for the jury to consider in 
arriving at the intention of the [owner of the dominant estate]" and 
that "an intention to abandon property for which one has paid 
value will not be presumed." Neitzel v. Spokane Int'l Ry. Co., 80 
Wash. 30, 41, 141 P. 186 (1914). An easement appurtenant which 
runs with the land "'is not a mere privilege to be enjoyed by the 
person to whom it is granted or by whom it is reserved. It passes 
by a deed of such person to his grantee and follows the land 
without any mention whatever."' Winsten v. Prichard, 23 Wn. App. 
428, 431, 597 P.2d 415 (1979) (quoting 2 George W Thompson, 
Commentaries on the Modern Law of Real Property§ 322, at 69 
(JohnS. Grimes rep!. 1961)). "Heg v. Alldredge, 157 Wn.2d 154, 
161 (2006)( emphasis added). 

This should be placed in contrast to the theory of "adverse possession", 

which is truly statutory in nature and relies on objective determinations. 

For example, erecting a fence on a line other than the true boundary and 

maintaining it for over 10 years can result in a transfer of ownership 

dating back to the date the 1 0-year period elapsed. The conveyance of 

title needs to be "confirmed" judicially in order to become "of record" but 

vests by operation of law. For example: 

"The claim of right element of adverse possession requires only 
that the claimant or successors treated the land as his or her own 
as against the world throughout the statutory period. The nature of 
the possession will be determined on the basis of the manner in 
which the possessor treats the property. Subjective beliefs 
regarding a true interest in the land and any intent to dispossess or 
not dispossess another are irrelevant to the determination. " 
Shelton v. Strickland, 106 Wn. App. 45, 50-51 (Wash. Ct. App. 
2001). 
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"The law is clear that title is acquired by adverse possession upon 
passage of the I 0-year period. El Cerrito, Inc. v. Ryndak, 60 
Wn.2d 847, 855, 376 P.2d 528 (1962); Muench v. Oxley, 90 Wn.2d 
637, 644, 584 P.2d 939 (1978). The quiet title action merely 
confirmed that title to the land had passed to Halverson by 197 4. 
Halverson v. Bellevue, 41 Wn. App. 457, 460 (1985). 

In contrast, the instant case involved the erection of a fence by the 

Sullivans at a time that they did not believe they enjoyed an "easement" 

(Letter Opinion appended as Appendix A, CP 201-210) and later, upon

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