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

appellants at the Court of Appeals. 

II. Decision of Court of Appeals. 

In a unanimous, unpublished decision filed June 29, 2015, the Court 

of Appeals determined that the trial court erred in allowing Kevin and Linda 

Sullivan to reinstate an easement that they had intentionally abandoned 

unless the Bresslers proved that they were estopped from doing so and 

reversed the portion of its judgment establishing reinstatement conditions. 

III. Additional Issues Presented for Review. 

The petition for review should be denied. But, if the petition is 

granted, the Bresslers ask the Court to review their other challenges to 

easement reinstatement: (1) Whether equity can relieve an intentional actor 

of the consequences of her actions, despite the lack of a good faith mistake? 

(2) Whether the abandoner's bad faith precluded reinstatement? (3) whether 

excluded evidence of bad faith should have been considered as bearing on 

the emotional hardship of reinstatement? (4) whether reinstatement was 

appropriate under the circumstances? Corrected Appellants' Brief at 4-5. 

IV. Introduction. 

The Bresslers filed suit to extinguish an easement for joint use of a 

boat launch on grounds that the Sullivans had abandoned the easement or, in 
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the alternative, that they were estopped to deny that they had abandoned it. 

In lengthy and detailed findings of fact, 1 the trial court found that the 

Sullivans had intentionally abandoned the easement. Nonetheless, the trial 

court concluded that they were entitled to repudiate their abandonment 

unless the Bresslers proved that they were equitably estopped from doing so. 

Under the trial court's judgment, the easement was determined to be 

abandoned, but the Sullivans were allowed to reinstate it. 

The Bresslers appealed the portion of the judgment establishing 

reinstatement conditions. In an unanimous, unpublished decision, the Court 

of Appeals reversed the challenged portion. In seeking review, however, the 

Sullivans assert conflicts with Washington authorities where none exist, 

distort or omit key facts on which both decisions below were based, and take 

issue with the trial court's determination that they abandoned the easement, 

despite their failure to cross-appeal or to assign error to any findings of fact. 

V. Statement of the Case. 

The Bresslers and the Sullivans own adjoining waterfront properties. 

FoF 1. They bought their properties on the same day, from the same 

developer. FoF 1, 3. The developer installed stone and, "grassy" pavers 

down the corridor between the two houses and curving sharply over to the 

1 A copy of the appellate court decision is attached to the Petition for Review. Copies of 
the Findings and Conclusions and the Final Judgment & Conditional Decree Quieting 
Title (through the trial court's signature pages, to avoid excess length) are attached hereto. 
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side of the Bresslers' property where a boat launch is located. F oF 3. Right 

before the sales, the developer recorded an access easement to launch boats 

centered on most of the common boundary and over the grassy-paver path to 

the other side of the Bresslers' property. FoF 1. Both the Bresslers and the 

Sullivans were told about the easement. RP at 43-44; CP at 938-40? When 

Ms. Sullivan told the developer that she wanted to put up a fence, he 

responded that it would need to be set back five feet from the property line, 

outside of the easement. CP at 933-35. 

For years, neither party used the boat launch. RP at 119-20, 328. 

Nonetheless, there were repeated disputes about the easement, FoF 6: 

disputes that escalated when Ms. Sullivan started living at her house. Id. 

Ms. Sullivan had a mailbox put up in the easement; when Mr. Bressler 

complained, she agreed to move it but did not. FoF 4. Ms. Sullivan 

thereafter offered to give up the easement because she wanted to put up a 

fence on the common boundary, but Mr. Bressler did not want to give up his 

easement rights.3 FoF 6. After a particularly ugly dispute over the easement 

culminated in Ms. Sullivan's use of religious and disability hate speech to 

2 Selected pages from Ms. Sullivan's deposition were read at trial. RP at 315-26. 

3 The Sullivans erroneously assert as fact not only that the Bresslers did not have a boat, 
RP at 277, but also that they did not intend to use the easement to launch boats. Pet. for 
Rev. at 9. They ignore the trial court's fmding that Mr. Bressler did not agree to Ms. 
Sullivan's initial offer to give up the easement in order to put her fence on the property 
line because he did not want to lose his own easement rights. FoF 6 
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Mr. Bressler and threats to one of the Bresslers' autistic children,4 RP at 104-

06, 108, the two stopped communicating altogether. RP at 111; Ex. 131. 

Some two years later, FoF 7-8, the Sullivans bought a boat and went 

to an attorney for advice about how to start using the boat launch. FoF 8. 

The attorney mistakenly informed them that there was no easement. FoF 9. 

Ms. Sullivan immediately made arrangements to move her fence, which had 

been set back five feet, FoF 6, to the property line. FoF 11. Before the fence 

was completed, the Bresslers' attorney provided the Sullivans' attorney with 

a copy of the easement and demanded that the Sullivans move their fence 

and their mailbox or extinguish the easement. FoF 13.5 When Ms. Sullivan 

learned about the recorded easement, she instructed her attorney not to 

respond to the Bresslers' attorney and authorized her contractors to finish the 

fence. Id.; Court of Appeals Opinion at 3 (hereinafter, "Opinion"). 

The Sullivans did not move the fence and mailbox by the Bresslers' 

deadline. FoF 15. Instead, they agreed to sign an easement extinguishment. 

4 Mr. Bressler's testimony about the incident was admitted without objection, RP at 106, 
but the trial court excluded the Bressler's offer of the corroborating police report, 
Rejected Exhibit 19, despite its reference to, "religious remarks" as the basis for Mr. 
Bressler's complaint, as irrelevant to abandonment. RP at 109-10. Similarly, the trial 
court cited irrelevance, RP at 150-51, 257-58, in excluding photographs showing the 
decapitated skull and skeleton of a homed animal, Rejected Exhibit 115, that the 
Sullivans placed in a tree at eye-level, facing the Bresslers' front yard, before removing a 
portion of the fence that they had installed on the property line. CP at 436. 

5 The Sullivans' unsupported assertion that the Bresslers hired an attorney in order to get 
an agreement to extinguish the easement, Pet. for Rev. at 4, is inconsistent with this 
express fmding of fact. 
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Id. While their attorney was working on the extinguishment with the 

Bresslers' attorney and representing that the Sullivans would sign it, FoF 15 

the Sullivans were pursuing a boat launch of their own.6 FoF 17. When the 

Sullivans learned that their title company would not pay for it, however, they 

reneged on their commitment. FoF 21. 

The Bresslers promptly gave notice that they regarded the easement 

as abandoned by the Sullivans and invoked the easement's mediation term. 

FoF 23. After the mediation was scheduled -- and the Sullivans changed 

lawyers, Ex. 80 -- they moved most of their fence back out of the easement. 

FoF 23. But they reconfigured their sliding gate to block off a portion of the 

easemene, Id., and continued to put additional obstacles in it up to the trial. 

FoF 26. And, although the Sullivans did not start using the easement until 

after the Bresslers had filed suit, FoF 25, the Sullivans mis-used it by storing 

their boat on the launch and on the Bresslers' tidelands. FoF 26. 

6 According to the Sullivans, the Bresslers' boat launch is located in the only opening in 
the bulkhead wide enough for launching boats. Pet. for Rev. at 4. But Ms. Sullivan got an 
estimate for replacing the beach stairs, most of which are on the Sullivans' property, RP 
at 72-74, with a boat launch. Ex. 39 at 2. The Sullivans assert that costs and regulatory 
demands proved prohibitive. Pet. for Rev. at 5. But the trial court found as fact that Ms. 
Sullivan wanted a boat launch that she would not have to share with the Bresslers, that 
she wanted someone else to pay for it, and that she did not want to move her fence from 
the easement until she knew the outcome of her effort. FoF 22. 

7 According to the Sullivans, they moved their fence to free up the easement area on 
March 1, 2012. Pet. for Rev. at 5. But the trial court found as fact that the Sullivans' 
reconfigured sliding gate encroached on a portion of the easement, FoF 24, that they 
knew or should have known that it was encroaching, FoF 31, and that, despite the 
Bresslers' written notification about the encroachment, the Sullivans kept it in the 
easement through the trial. FoF 23. 
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The Bresslers filed suit to extinguish the easement on grounds that 

the Sullivans had abandoned the easement or, in the alternative, that they 

were estopped to deny that they had abandoned it. Opinion at 4. The 

Sullivans denied that either doctrine applied and pled their lack of intent to 

abandon the easement and their good faith as affirmative defenses. CP at 

881-82. In Finding of Fact 29, the trial court expressly found that the 

Sullivans had abandoned the easement when they chose to finish their fence 

after receiving verification that a recorded easement existed: 

The Sullivans' installation of a fence along the property 
line, down the middle of the easement, was unequivocal, 
decisive, and inconsistent with the continued existence of 
the easement. At that point, the Sullivans abandoned the 
easement. The Sullivans' decision to relocate the fence to 
the middle of the easement after they were mistakenly told 
that there was no recorded easement appears to have been 
done in the mistaken belief that the easement had not been 
executed or recorded, as acknowledged by the Bresslers .... 
However, the Sullivans' actions after being advised that an 
easement was recorded were intentional. After receiving 
verification that the easement was recorded, Ms. Sullivan 
nevertheless continued with the installation of the fence 
inside the easement. Her testimony that she thought the 
wooden posts which were already installed would be 
dangerous standing alone was not credible. 

But the trial court nonetheless concluded that the Sullivans had a 

right to repudiate their abandonment unless the Bresslers proved that they 

were estopped from doing so. CoL 3-4. And, despite concluding that the 

Bresslers had proved inconsistent admissions, statements, and acts by the 
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Sullivans and their reliance, CoL 5 and Opinion at 7, the trial court 

concluded that the Sullivans could reinstate the easement by avoiding the 

undue hardship to the Bresslers that would otherwise result if they 

reimbursed the legal fees that the Bresslers had incurred to the point when 

the Sullivans reneged on their commitment to execute the extinguishment 

and removed their obstacles from the easement. CoL 7. 

The Court of Appeals reversed the portion of the judgment 

allowing the Sullivans to reinstate the easement. Opinion at 1, 11. As the 

Court of Appeals observed, abandonment requires a showing of intent to 

abandon, Id. at 6, while, under equitable estoppel, an easement can be 

extinguished even if the dominant owner has no intention to give it up. I d. 

at 7. The trial court's determination that the Sullivans had intentionally 

abandoned the easement was thus sufficient, in and of itself, to extinguish 

it. Id. at 8. The Bresslers consequently did not need to also prove that 

they would suffer undue hardship -- an element of equitable estoppel -- in 

order to prevail. ld. at 8-9 As the Court of Appeals observed in reversing 

the errant portion of the judgment, there is no legal support for the remedy 

of reinstatement of an abandoned easement. ld. at 9. Rather, an easement 

that has been extinguished, whether through abandonment or some other 

legal doctrine, ceases to exist and may only be, "reinstated" by the creation 

of a new easement. Id. at 5, 8. 
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Reversal of this error of law being dispositive, the appellate court 

expressly did not reach the Bresslers' challenge to the trial court's 

exclusion of evidence of the Sullivans' bad faith. ld. at 11. The appellate 

court also did not reach the Bresslers' other challenges to reinstatement. 

VI.A. Argument Why Review Should be Denied. 

1. Appellate Opinion Was Properly 
Based on a Recent, Unanimous 
Decision of this Court. 

The Sullivans assert a conflict of authority where none exists. In 

Reg v. Alldredge, 157 Wn. 2d 154, 137 P. 3d (2006) -- a recent, 

unanimous decision -- this Court considered abandonment and equitable 

estoppel as alternative grounds on which a disputed easement could be 

extinguished. This Court expressly held that the facts were not sufficient 

to support either a determination of abandonment or that the dominant 

owner was estopped from enforcing her easement. 157 Wn. 2d at 156-57. 

Reg established that, for acts of an easement-holder to constitute 

abandonment, they must be unequivocal, decisive, and inconsistent with 

the existence of an easement. Id. at 161. Reg also applied established 

elements of the doctrine of equitable estoppel: there must be inconsistent 

statements, acts, or conduct by the party to be estopped, on which the 

opposing party relies, and the opposing party must suffer injury if the 

other is allowed to change positions. Id. at 165. There are no published 
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Washington decisions citing Heg, much less decisions that are in conflict 

with it. Indeed, although the Sullivans now assert a right to reinstate the 

easement they had abandoned unless the Bresslers proved that they were 

equitably estopped, they originally asserted that, "[t]he single issue before 

[the trial court] is whether or not the easement for joint boat access has 

been 'abandoned' by the Defendants." CP at 400. 

Abandonment and equitable estoppel are different easement 

extinguishment doctrines: abandonment requires proof that the holder has 

intentionally abandoned the easement, while equitable estoppel does not. 

Opinion at 6-7. But the very language from the appellate decision in Heg 

that the Sullivans quote for the proposition that an abandoner has a right to 

revive an easement unless equitably estopped from doing so instead 

supports the Court of Appeals' Opinion: 

'An easement may be extinguished by conduct of the 
owner of it even though he had no intention to give up the 
easement. This is due to the general principle that an owner 
of an easement will not be permitted to change a position 
once taken by him if the change would cause undue 
hardship to the owner of the servient tenement." 

Humphrey v. Jenks, 61 Wn. 2d 565, 567-68, 379 P. 2d 
355 (1963) (quoting 2 AMERICAN LAW OF PROPERTY 
§8.99, p. 305). Thus, where the conduct of an owner of 
an easement does not suffice to establish abandonment 
of the easement, it may nevertheless suffice to bar 
enforcement where there bas been a change of position 
by the owner of the servient estate and resulting 
hardship. 
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Pet. for Rev. at 7-8, quoting Heg v. Alldredge, 124 Wn. App. 297, 310,99 

P. 3d 914 (Div. I, 2005) (emphasis added). 

In Humphrey, this Court's decision quoted in the appellate court's 

decision in Heg, proof of reliance and undue hardship were required 

because there was no claim of abandonment: the holder had never stopped 

using the easement or indicated any intent to give it up. 61 Wn. 2d at 568. 

In both the appellate and Supreme Court opinions in Heg, abandonment 

and equitable estoppel were considered as alternate grounds on which an 

easement can be extinguished, 124 Wn. App. at 300, 310, and 157 Wn. 

2nd at 156, 165: not because the party seeking extinguishment has to 

prove not only that the holder has intentionally abandoned an easement 

but also is equitably estopped from reviving it. 

The Sullivans seek to avoid the consequences of their 

abandonment conduct -- installing a fence in the middle of the paved path 

down the property line, despite prior notice that doing so was inconsistent 

with the easement -- by attributing it to mistaken advice from their first 

attorney. An easement can be extinguished through abandonment by 

nonuse 'accompanied with the express or implied intention of 

abandonment', Heg, 157 Wn. 2d at 161, quoting Netherlands Am. 

Mortgage Bank v. E. Ry. & Lumber Co, 142 Wash 204, 210, 252 P. 916 
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(1927). The Sullivans ask this Court to decide whether it is sufficient that 

the objective acts of the holder evidencing abandonment of an easement 

are unequivocal and decisive and inconsistent with the continued existence 

of an easement or whether the holder must also subjectively intend to 

abandon the easement. Pet. for Rev. at 12-14. 

Interesting as that question might otherwise be, however, the facts 

of this case do not present it. As emphasized by both the trial court in 

finding that the Sullivans had abandoned the easement, FoF 29, and by the 

Court of Appeals in quoting the finding in its entirety, Opinion at 8, the 

Sullivans may have started putting up their fence based on mistaken 

advice from their lawyer. But, after she got a copy of the easement, Ms. 

Sullivan instructed her attorney not to respond to the Bresslers' attorney

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